

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

of

LAGAN VALLEY REGIONAL PARK LIMITED

Interpretation

1. Exclusion of Table C

No regulations set out in any enactment concerning companies shall apply as the regulations or articles of the Company.

2. Definitions

In these Articles unless the context otherwise requires:

"**Auditors**" means the auditors for the time being of the Company or, in the case of joint auditors, anyone of them;

"**Board**" means the Board of Directors from time to time of the Company or the Directors present at a meeting of the Directors at which a quorum is present;

"**clear days**" in relation to the period of a notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be served and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;

"**Companies Orders**" means the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986 and every other enactment from time to time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the Company;

"**enactment**" means any order in council, statute, statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation (including, without limitation, the Table C set out in the Schedule to the Companies (Tables A to F) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1986);

"**Member**" means a person or body corporate or government department or local authority admitted to membership of the Company in accordance with these Articles of the Company;

"**Membership Selection Committee**" means the committee of the Board which selects members;

"**seal**" means any common or official seal that the Company may be permitted to have under the Companies Orders;

"**these Articles**" means these articles of association as altered from time to time by special resolution and the expression "this Article" shall be construed accordingly;

"the Office" means the registered office from time to time of the Company;

"Secretary" means the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) anyone of the joint secretaries, of the Company and (except in Article 70) includes an assistant or deputy secretary and any person appointed by the Board to perform any of the duties of the secretary;

"United Kingdom" means Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

references to a document being "**executed**" include references to its being executed under hand or under seal or by any other method;

references to "**writing**" include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form; and

words or expressions to which a particular meaning is given by the Companies Orders in force when these Articles or any part of these Articles are adopted bear the same meaning in these Articles or that part (as the case may be) save that the word "**company**" shall include any body corporate.

Headings are included only for convenience and shall not affect interpretation.

3 **Form of Resolution**

A resolution in writing executed by or on behalf of each Member who would have been entitled to vote upon it if it had been proposed at a general meeting at which he was present shall be as effectual as if it had been passed at a general meeting properly convened and held and may consist of several instruments in the like form each executed by or on behalf of one or more of the Members.

4. **Members**

4.1 Every Member of the Company shall, or being a body corporate, government department or local authority, shall procure that its duly authorised representative shall either sign a written consent to become a Member or sign the Register of Members on becoming a Member.

4.2 The subscribers to the memorandum are the first members of the Company.

4.3 Membership is open to other individuals or organisations who:

(a) apply to the Company in the form required by the Directors; and

(b) are approved by the Directors sitting on the Membership Selection Committee.

4.4 The Directors sitting on the membership Selection Committee may only refuse an application for membership if, acting reasonably and properly, they consider it to be in the best interests of the Company to refuse the application.

- 4.5 The Directors must inform the applicant in writing of the reasons for the refusal within twenty-one days of the decision.
- 4.6 The Directors must consider any written representations the applicant may make about the decision. The Director's decision following any written representations must be notified to the applicant in writing but shall be final.
- 4.7 Membership is not transferable to anyone else.
- 4.8 The Directors must keep a register of names and addresses of the members and the total number of members must not exceed 30.

5. **Termination of Membership**

Membership is terminated if:

- 5.1 the member dies or, if it is an organisation, ceases to exist;
- 5.2 the member resigns by written notice to the Company unless, after the resignation, there would be less than two members;
- 5.3 any sum due from the member to the Company is not paid in full within six months of it falling due;
- 5.4 the member is removed from membership by a resolution of the Directors that it is in the best interests of the Company that his or her membership is terminated. A resolution to remove a member from membership may only be passed if:
 - (a) the member has been given at least twenty-one days' notice in writing of the meeting of the Directors at which the resolution will be proposed and the reasons why it is to be proposed;
 - .
- 5.5 A person shall forthwith cease to be a Member of the Company (provided always that at least one Member of the Company remains on the register of Members thereafter):
 - (a) if he is removed by notice in writing to the Company signed by a majority of the Members of the Company, or
 - (b) if by notice in writing to the Company he resigns his membership, or
 - (c) if he becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors generally, or the member being a Body Corporate, an order is made or resolution is passed for its winding up or administration or distribution or it has a receiver appointed over all or some part of its assets, or
 - (d) if he becomes incapable by reason of mental disorder, illness or injury of managing and administering his own affairs, or
 - (e) if he ceases to hold office as a Director for any reason; or

- (f) if he is considered by resolution passed by the majority of those present at a meeting of the Board to be unfit for membership provided that he shall have a right to attend and be heard at such meeting.
- (g) if the member is an authorised representative of a body corporate a government department or a local authority and the body corporate, government department or local authorityl notify the Directors of the Company that they wish the authorised representative to cease to be a member.
- (h) If he is elected Councillor representing either Belfast City Council, Lisburn City Council or Castlereagh City Council as a Member and he ceases to hold the office of Councillor for the Council he represents.

General Meetings

6 Extraordinary General Meetings

Any general meeting of the Company other than an Annual General Meeting shall be called an Extraordinary General Meeting.

7 Annual General Meetings

The Board shall convene and the Company shall hold general meetings as Annual General Meetings in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Orders.

8 Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings

The Board may convene an Extraordinary General Meeting whenever it thinks fit.

Notice of General Meetings

9 Length of Notice

An Annual General Meeting and an Extraordinary General Meeting convened for the passing of a special resolution or a resolution appointing a person as a Director shall be convened by not less than twenty-one clear days' notice in writing. All other Extraordinary General Meetings shall be convened by not less than fourteen clear days' notice in writing. The notice shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting, and the general nature of the business to be transacted. Notice of every general meeting shall be given to all Members and to the Auditors.

10 **Meetings on Short Notice**

Notwithstanding that a meeting of the Company is convened by shorter notice than that specified in this Article, it shall be deemed to have been properly convened if it is so agreed:

- (a) in the case of an Annual General Meeting, by all the Members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting; and
- (b) in the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of the Members having a right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together representing not less than 95 per cent. of the total voting rights at that meeting of all the Members.

11 **Non-Receipt of Notice**

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting or (in cases where instruments of proxy are sent out with the notice) the accidental omission to send an instrument of proxy to, or the non-receipt of either or both by, any person entitled to receive the notice shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

12 **Postponement of General Meetings**

If the Board, in its absolute discretion, considers that it is impractical or unreasonable for any reason to hold a general meeting on the date or at the time or place specified in the notice calling the general meeting, it may postpone the general meeting to another date, time and place by giving notice of such postponement not less than three clear days before the date previously specified for that meeting. Such notice shall specify the date, time and place of the postponed meeting. Notice of the business to be transacted at such postponed meeting shall not be required.

Proceedings at General Meetings

13 **Quorum**

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting including an Annual General Meeting and an Extraordinary General Meeting unless a quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to business, but the absence of a quorum shall not preclude the choice or appointment of a chairman which shall not be treated as part of the business of the meeting. Save as otherwise provided by these Articles, four Directors and two Members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum for all purposes.

14 **Procedure If Quorum Not Present**

If within five minutes (or such longer time not exceeding one hour as the chairman of the meeting may decide to wait) after the time appointed for the commencement of the general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to such other day (being not less than three nor more than twenty-eight days later) and at such

other time or place as may have been specified for the purpose in the notice convening the meeting. Where no such arrangements have been so specified, the meeting shall stand adjourned to such other day (being not less than ten nor more than twenty-eight days later) and at such other time or place as the chairman of the meeting may decide and, in this case, the Company shall give not less than seven clear days' notice in writing of the adjourned meeting. At any adjourned meeting two Members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum.

15 Security Arrangements

The Board may direct that persons wishing to attend any general meeting should submit to such searches or other security arrangements or restrictions as the Board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances and shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to, or to authorise some one or more persons who shall include a Director or the Secretary or the chairman of the meeting to, refuse entry to, or to reject from, such general meeting any person who fails to submit to such searches or otherwise to comply with such security arrangements or restrictions.

16 Chairman of General Meeting

The chairman (if any) of the Board or, in his absence, the deputy chairman (if any) shall preside as chairman at every general meeting. If there is no chairman or deputy chairman, or if at any meeting neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, or if neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is willing to act as chairman, the Directors present shall choose one of their number to act, or if one Director only is present he shall preside as chairman if willing to act.

17 Orderly Conduct

The chairman shall take such action as he thinks fit to promote the orderly conduct of the business of the meeting as laid down in the notice of the meeting and the chairman's decision on matters of procedure or arising incidentally from the business of the meeting shall be final as shall be his determination as to whether any matter is of such a nature.

18 Rights to Attend and Speak

Each Director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the Company. The chairman may invite any person whom the chairman considers is, by virtue of his knowledge and experience of the Company's business, able to assist in the deliberations of the meeting to attend and speak at any general meeting of the Company.

19 Adjournments

The chairman may at any time without the consent of the meeting adjourn any meeting (whether or not it has commenced or a quorum is present) either sine die or to another time or place where it appears to him that (a) the members wishing to attend cannot be conveniently accommodated in the place appointed for the meeting (b) the

conduct of persons present prevents or is likely to prevent the orderly continuation of business or (c) an adjournment is otherwise necessary so that the business of the meeting may be properly conducted. In addition, the chairman may at any time with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting either sine die or to another time or place. When a meeting is adjourned sine die the time and place for the adjourned meeting shall be fixed by the Board. No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except business which might properly have been transacted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place.

20 **Notice of Adjournment**

When a meeting is adjourned for three months or more, or sine die, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original meeting. Except where these Articles otherwise require, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

21 **Resolutions**

Subject to the Companies Orders, where for any purpose an ordinary resolution of the Company is required, a special or extraordinary resolution shall also be effective and where for any purpose an extraordinary resolution is required a special resolution shall also be effective.

22 **Amendments to Resolutions**

In the case of a resolution duly proposed as a special or extraordinary resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted upon. In the case of a resolution duly proposed as an ordinary resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted upon unless the chairman in his absolute discretion decides that it may be considered or voted upon.

Voting at General Meetings

23 **Method of Voting**

At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands or on the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll) a poll is properly demanded. Subject to the Companies Orders, a poll may be demanded by:

- (a) the chairman of the meeting, or
- (b) at least two Members present in person or by proxy or by the duly authorised representative of a corporation and entitled to vote.

24 **Chairman's Declaration Conclusive**

Unless a poll is so demanded and the demand is not withdrawn, a declaration by the chairman that a resolution has been carried or carried unanimously or by a particular majority or not carried by a particular majority or lost shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded for or against the resolution.

25 Procedure if Poll Demanded

If a poll is properly demanded it shall be taken in such manner as the chairman shall direct and he may appoint scrutineers who need not be Members. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.

26 When Poll to be Taken

A poll demanded on the election of a chairman, or on a question of adjournment, shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on any other question shall be taken either forthwith or on such date being not later than thirty days after the date of the demand) and at such time and place as the chairman shall direct. It shall not be necessary (unless the chairman otherwise directs) for notice to be given of a poll.

27 Continuance of Other Business after Poll Demand

The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on which the poll was demanded, and it may be withdrawn with the consent of the chairman at any time before the close of the meeting or the taking of the poll, whichever is the earlier, and in that event shall not invalidate the result of a show of hands declared before the demand was made.

28 Votes of Members

Every Member shall have one vote.

29 Votes on a Poll

On a poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy.

30 Casting Vote of Chairman

In the case of an equality of votes at a general meeting, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the meeting shall be entitled to an additional or casting vote.

31 Objections or Errors in Voting

If:

- (a) any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter, or

- (b) any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected, or
- (c) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,

the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution unless it is raised or pointed out at the meeting or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the chairman decides that the same may have affected the decision of the meeting. The decision of the chairman on such matters shall be conclusive.

Proxies

32 Execution of Proxies

An instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its seal or under the hand of an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign it.

33 Delivery of Proxies

The instrument appointing a proxy and (if required by the Board) any authority under which it is executed or a certified copy of the authority may be delivered to the Office (or to such other place in Northern Ireland as may be specified in the notice convening the meeting or in any notice of any adjournment or, in either case, in any accompanying document) not less than twenty-four hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote or, in the case of a poll taken subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, not less than twenty-four hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll and an instrument of proxy which is not so delivered shall be invalid. When two or more valid but differing instruments of proxy are delivered in respect of the same Member for use at the same meeting, the one which is last delivered (regardless of its date or of the date of its execution) shall be treated as replacing and revoking the others as regards that Member: if the Company is unable to determine which was last delivered, none of them shall be treated as valid in respect of that Member. Delivery of an instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a Member from attending and voting in person at the meeting or poll concerned.

34 Maximum Validity of Proxy

No instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid after twelve months have elapsed from the date named in it as the date of its execution.

35 Form of Proxy

Instruments of proxy shall be in any usual form or in such other form as the Board may approve and the Board may, if it thinks fit, but subject to the provisions of the

Companies Orders, send out with the notice of any meeting forms of instrument of proxy for use at the meeting. The instrument of proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll and to vote on any amendment of a resolution put to the meeting for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit. The instrument of proxy shall, unless the contrary is stated in it, be valid for any adjournment of the meeting as well as for the meeting to which it relates.

36. **Cancellation of Proxy's Authority**

A vote given or poll demanded by a proxy or by the duly authorised representative of a corporation shall be valid notwithstanding the previous determination of the authority of the person voting or demanding a poll or the previous death or insanity of the Member who appointed the proxy, unless notice in writing of the determination, death or insanity was received by the Company at the Office or such other place in Northern Ireland as was specified for the delivery of instruments of proxy in the notice convening the meeting (or other accompanying document) not later than the last time at which an instrument of proxy should have been delivered in order to be valid for use at the meeting or on the holding of the poll at which the vote was given or the poll demanded.

Appointment, Retirement and Removal of Directors

37. **Number of Directors**

Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution of the Company, the Board shall consist only of non-executive Directors and there shall be a minimum of 10 and maximum of 14 Directors. Six of the Directors shall be nominated by the Councils whose boundaries include the Lagan Valley Regional Park.

The following persons shall be appointed as Directors of the Company:

Two Directors being Councillors nominated by Belfast City Council.

Two Directors being Councillors nominated by Castlereagh Borough Council.

Two Directors being Councillors nominated by Lisburn City Council.

Two Directors nominated by the Council for Nature Conservation and the Countryside.

One Director nominated by the National Trust.

One Director nominated by the Countryside Activities and Access Network.

Four Directors being members of the public who respond to a public advertisement for Directors and have been nominated by the Board following interview by the Board.

In the event no Directors are appointed by ordinary resolution of the Company at general meeting the Board can appoint members to approve by ordinary resolution the appointment of Directors at general meeting. In such circumstances the limit on the number of members at clause 4.8 hereof shall not apply.

38. **Age of Directors**

No person shall be disqualified from being appointed a Director, and no Director shall be required to vacate that office, by reason only of the fact that he has attained the age

of seventy years or any other age, nor shall it be necessary by reason of his age to give special notice under the Companies Orders of any resolution.

39. Power of Company to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these Articles, the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint any person who is willing to act to be a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board.

40. Power of Board to Appoint Directors

Without prejudice to the power of the Company in general meeting pursuant to any of the provisions of these Articles to appoint any person to be a Director, the Board may, without prejudice to Article 61, appoint any person who is willing to act to be a Director to fill a vacancy arising on the resignation of a Director. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following Annual General Meeting.

41. Power of Removal by Special Resolution

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Orders, the Company may by special resolution remove any Director before the expiration of his period of office and may (subject to these Articles) by ordinary resolution appoint another person who is willing to act to be a Director in his place.

42. Persons Eligible as Directors

No person shall be appointed a Director at any general meeting unless:

- (a) he is recommended by the Board, or
- (b) The person is within the following categories:
 - Two Directors being Councillors nominated by Belfast City Council.
 - Two Directors being Councillors nominated by Castlereagh Borough Council.
 - Two Directors being Councillors nominated by Lisburn City Council.
 - Two Directors nominated by the Council for Nature Conservation and the Countryside.
 - One Director nominated by the National Trust.
 - One Director nominated by the Countryside Activities and access Network
 - Four Directors being members for the public who have responded to public advertisement by the Board.

43. Vacation of Office by Directors

The office of a Director (which shall include the office of Chairman) shall be vacated if:

- (a) he resigns his office by notice in writing delivered to the Office or tendered at a meeting of the Board, or

- (b) he is or has been suffering from mental ill health or becomes a patient for any purpose of any statute relating to mental health and the Board resolves that his office is vacated, or
- (c) he is absent without the permission of the Board from meetings of the Board for twelve consecutive months and the Board resolves that his office is vacated, or
- (d) he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally, or
- (e) he is prohibited by law from being a Director, or
- (f) he ceases to be a Director by virtue of the Companies Orders or is removed from office pursuant to these Articles.
- (g) he ceases to be an elected Councillor of a Council which he represents as Director on the Board of the Company, or
- (h) he ceases to be an employee of an organisation which he represents as Director on the Board of the Company.

44 **Membership of Committees**

If the office of a Director is vacated for any reason, he shall cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the Board.

Additional Remuneration, Expenses and Pensions

45 **Directors' Fees**

The Directors shall not be remunerated for their services as Directors of the Company.

46 **Expenses**

Each Director shall claim expenses from the organisation they represent on the Board of the Company and only if that is not forthcoming they may be paid reasonable expenses for expenditure reasonably and properly incurred by him in acting as a Director, in the conduct of the Company's business or in the discharge of his duties as a Director.

47 **Not used**

48 **Permitted Interests and Voting**

- 48.1 Subject to the provisions of the Companies Orders, a Director or proposed or intending Director shall be disqualified by his office from contracting with the Company, in any manner whatever, (other than entry into an employment contract as Director) and any contract in which any Director is in any way interested shall be liable to be avoided, A Director who is so interested shall be liable to account to the Company or the Members for any remuneration, profit or other benefit realised by the

contract by reason of the Director holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established.

- 48.2 A Director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise interested in, any company promoted by the Company or in which the Company may be interested or as regards which it has any power of appointment, and shall not be liable to account to the Company or the Members for any remuneration, profit or other benefit received by him as a director or officer of or from his interest in the other company. The Board may also cause any voting power conferred by the shares in any other company held or owned by the Company or any power of appointment to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit, including the exercise of the voting power or power of appointment in favour of the appointment of the Directors or any of them as directors or officers of the other company, or in favour of the payment of remuneration to the directors or officers of the other company.
- 48.3 A Director must exercise his powers and carry out his duties in relation to the Company solely for the benefit of the Company.
- 48.4 A Director shall not vote on or be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution of the Board concerning his own appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment, as the holder of any office or place of profit with the Company or any other company in which the Company is interested but, where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of the appointment, of each of the Directors to offices or places of profit with the Company or any other company in which the Company is interested, a separate resolution may be put in relation to each Director and in that case each of the Directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution unless it concerns his own appointment or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment or the appointment of another Director to an office or place of profit with a company in which the Company is interested and the Director seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum owns one per cent. or more of it.

Save as otherwise provided by these Articles, a Director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract in which he has an interest

- 48.5 A company shall be deemed to be one in which a Director has an interest if he owns one per cent. or more if and so long as (but only if and so long as) he, taken together with any person connected with him, is to his knowledge (either directly or indirectly) the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or more of any class of the equity share capital of that company or of the voting rights available to members of that company. For the purpose of this Article 48.5 there shall be disregarded any shares held by the Director or any such person as bare or custodian trustee and in which he has no beneficial interest, any shares comprised in a trust in which his, or any such person's, interest is in reversion or remainder if and so long as some other person is entitled to receive the income of the trust and any shares comprised in an

authorised unit trust scheme in which he, or any such person, is interested only as a unit holder.

- 48.6 Where a company in which a Director owns one per cent. or more is materially interested in a contract, he also shall be deemed materially interested in that contract.
- 48.7 If any question shall arise at any meeting of the Board as to the materiality of the interest of the Director who is not the chairman of the meeting or as to the entitlement of the Director who is not the chairman of the meeting to vote or be counted in the quorum and the question is not resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting or not to be counted in the quorum, the question shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to the Director concerned shall be conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of his interest (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the Board. If a quorum cannot be formed as a result of the chairman's ruling, the item(s) of business which the inquorate meeting of the Board had been convened to consider shall be decided by the Members in general meeting. If any question shall arise in respect of the chairman of the meeting, the question shall be decided by a resolution of the Board (for which purpose the chairman shall be counted in the quorum but shall not vote on the matter) and the resolution shall be conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interest of the chairman (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the Board. If a quorum cannot be formed as a result of the resolution, the item(s) of business which the inquorate meeting of the Board had been convened to consider shall be decided by the Members in general meeting.
- 48.8 A Director who to his knowledge is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract with the Company shall declare the nature of his interest at the meeting of the Board at which the question of entering into the contract is first taken into consideration, if he knows his interest then exists, or in any other case at the first meeting of the Board after he knows that he is or has become so interested. For the purposes of this Article, a general notice to the Board by a Director to the effect that (a) he is a member of a specified company or firm and is to be regarded as interested in any contract which may after the date of the notice be made with that company or firm or (b) he is to be regarded as interested in any contract which may after the date of the notice be made with a specified person who is connected with him, shall be deemed to be a sufficient declaration of interest under this Article in relation to any such contract; provided that no such notice shall be effective unless either it is given at a meeting of the Board or the Director takes reasonable steps to secure that it is brought up and read at the next Board meeting after it is given.
- 48.9 References in this Article to a contract include references to any proposed contract and to any transaction or arrangement whether or not constituting a contract.
- 48.10 Subject to the provisions of the Companies Orders, the Company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of this Article to any extent or ratify any contract not properly authorised by reason of a contravention of this Article.
- 48.11 For the purpose of this Article 48, an interest of a person who is, for any purpose of the Companies Orders, connected with a Director shall be treated as an interest of the Director.

Powers and Duties of the Board

49 General Powers of Company Vested in Board

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Orders, the Memorandum of Association of the Company and these Articles and to any directions given by the Company in general meeting by special resolution, the business of the Company shall be managed by the Board which may exercise all the powers of the Company whether relating to the management of the business of the Company or not. No alteration of the Memorandum of Association or these Articles and no special resolution shall invalidate any prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that alteration had not been made or that resolution had not been passed. The powers given by this Article shall not be limited by any special power given to the Board by any other Article.

50 Agents

The Board may, by power of attorney or otherwise, appoint any person to be the agent of the Company upon such terms (including terms as to remuneration) as it may decide and may (with the exception of those powers, authorities and discretions conferred on the Board under Article 40 (*Power of Board to Appoint Directors*)) (which powers, authorities and discretions shall be exercisable only by the Board)) delegate to any person so appointed any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate). The Board may remove any person appointed under this Article and may revoke or vary the delegation but no person dealing in good faith and without notice of the revocation or variation shall be affected by it. The power to delegate contained in this Article shall (save as expressly provided herein) be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the Board generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain Articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the Board or by a committee authorised by the Board.

51 Delegation to Individual Directors

The Board may entrust to and confer upon any Director any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of, its own powers, authorities and discretions and may from time to time revoke or vary all or any of them but no person dealing in good faith and without notice of the revocation or variation shall be affected by it. The power to delegate contained in this Article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the Board generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain Articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the Board or by a committee authorised by the Board.

52 Provision for Employees

The Board may exercise any power conferred by the Companies Orders to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly employed by any of the

Company's subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or the transfer to any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of that subsidiary.

Proceedings of the Board

53 Board Meetings

The Board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. A Director at any time may, and the Secretary on the requisition of a Director at any time shall, summon a meeting of the Board.

54 Notice of Board Meetings

Notice of a Board meeting shall be deemed to be properly given to a Director if it is given to him personally or sent in writing to him at his last known address or any other address given by him to the Company for this purpose. A Director absent or intending to be absent from the United Kingdom may request the Board that notices of Board meetings shall during his absence be sent in writing to him at an address given by him to the Company for this purpose, but such notices need not be given any earlier than notices given to Directors not so absent and if no request is made to the Board it shall not be necessary to give notice of a Board meeting to any Director who is for the time being absent from the United Kingdom, A Director may waive notice of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively,

55 Quorum

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board may be fixed by the Board and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be four. Subject to the provisions of these Articles, any Director who ceases to be a Director at a meeting of the Board may continue to be present and to act as a Director and be counted in the quorum until the termination of the meeting if the other Director does not object. Where a Director is disqualified from being counted in a quorum in relation to the consideration of any matter by the Board, such matter shall be considered instead by the Members in general meeting,

56 Directors below Minimum through vacancies

The continuing Directors or a sole continuing Director may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their number but, if and so long as the number of Directors is reduced below the number fixed by or in accordance with these Articles or is below the number fixed by or in accordance with these Articles as the quorum or there is only one continuing Director, the continuing Director or Directors may act for the purpose of filling vacancies or of summoning general meetings of the Company but not for any other purpose.

57 Appointment of Chairman

The Board may appoint a Director to be the chairman of the Board, and may at any time remove him from that office. Unless he is unwilling to do so, the chairman shall act as chairman at every meeting of the Board. If no chairman is appointed, the

Directors may choose one of their number to be chairman of the meeting. The maximum term office of a Chairman shall be 4 years.

58 **Competence of Meetings**

A meeting of the Board at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in or exercisable by the Board.

59 **Voting**

Subject to any other provisions of these Articles requiring a different majority, questions arising at any meeting of the Board shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes, the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.

60 **Delegation to Committees**

60.1 With the exception of the powers, authorities and discretions conferred on the Board under Article 40 (*Power of Board to Appoint Directors*) (which powers, authorities and discretions shall be exercisable only by the Board), the Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) to any committee, consisting of such person or persons (whether Directors or not) as it thinks fit. Any committee so formed may exercise its power to sub-delegate by sub-delegating to any person or persons (whether or not a member or members of the Board or of the committee).

60.2 Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any regulations which may be imposed on it by the Board. The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two or more persons shall be governed by the provisions contained in these Articles for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Board so far as the same are applicable and are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the Board.

60.3 The power to delegate contained in this Article shall, save as expressly provided herein, be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the Board generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain Articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the Board or by a committee authorised by the Board.

61 **Participation in Meetings by Telephone**

All or any of the members of the Board or any committee of the Board may participate in a meeting of the Board or that committee by means of a conference telephone or any communication equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall be entitled to vote or be counted in a quorum accordingly. Such a meeting shall be deemed to take place where the largest group of those participating is assembled, or, if there is no such group, where the chairman of the meeting then is.

62 **Resolution in Writing**

A resolution in writing executed by all the Directors for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board (if that number is sufficient to constitute a quorum) or by all the members of a committee for the time being shall be as valid and effectual as a resolution passed at a meeting of the Board or, as the case may be, of the committee properly called and constituted. The resolution may be contained in one document or in several documents in like form each executed by one or more of the Directors or members of the committee concerned and may be in any form, including facsimile transmission.

63 **Validity of Acts of Board or Committee**

All acts done by the Board or by any committee or by any person acting as a Director or member of a committee shall, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the Board or committee or person so acting or that they or any of them were disqualified or had vacated office, be as valid as if each such member or person had been properly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a Director or member of the committee.

Secretary

64 **Appointment and Removal of the Company Secretary**

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Orders, the Secretary shall be appointed by the Directors for such term, at such remuneration and upon such conditions as they may think fit; and any Secretary so appointed may be removed by them.

Seals

65 **Use of Seals**

The Board shall provide for the custody of every seal of the Company. A seal shall only be used by the authority of the Board or of a committee of the Board authorised by the Board on their behalf. Subject as otherwise provided in these Articles, any instrument to which the common seal is applied shall be signed by a Director and shall be countersigned by the Secretary or by a second Director or by some other person appointed by the Board for this purpose.

Accounting Records and Summary Financial Statements

66 **Records to be Kept**

The Board shall cause to be kept accounting records sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions, and such as to disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company at that time, and which accord with the Companies Orders.

67 **Inspection of Records**

No Member in his capacity as such shall have any right of inspecting any accounting record or book or document of the Company except as conferred by law or authorised by the Board or by ordinary resolution of the Company.

- 68 The accounting records shall be kept at the registered office of the Company or, subject to the provision of the Companies Orders at such other place or places as the Board of Directors of the Company think fit, and shall always be open to the inspection of the Members of the Company or the Directors of the Company.
- 69 Subject to the provision of the Companies Orders the Board of Directors of the Company shall from time to time determine whether and to what extent and at what times and places and under what conditions or regulations, accounts and books of the Company or any of them shall be open to the inspection of Members, and Directors.
- 70 The Board of Directors of the Company shall from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Orders cause to be prepared and to be laid before the Company in general meeting such profit and loss accounts, balance sheets, group accounts, if any, and reports as are referred to in these provisions
- 71 A copy of every balance sheet (including every document required by law to be annexed thereto) which is to be laid before the Company in general meeting, together with a copy of the auditor's report, shall not less than twenty-one days before the date of the meeting be sent to every Member of, and every holder of debentures of the Company, so, however, that this Article shall not require a copy of those documents to be sent to any person of whose address the Company is not aware or to more than one of the joint holders of any debentures.

AUDIT

- 72 Auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Orders.

Service of Notices and Other Documents

- 73 **Service of Notices**

Any notice or other document may be served on or delivered to any Member by the Company either personally or by sending it through the post addressed to the Member at his registered address or by leaving it at that address addressed to the Member or by any other means authorised in writing by the Member concerned.

- 74 **Members Resident Abroad**

Any Member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom and who gives to the Company an address within the United Kingdom at which notices may be served upon him shall be entitled to have notices served upon him at that address but, unless he does so, shall not be entitled to receive any notice from the Company.

75. **When Notice Deemed Served**

Any notice or other document, if sent by the Company by post, shall be deemed to have been served or delivered on the day following that on which it was put in the post and, in proving service or delivery, it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice or document was properly addressed, prepaid and put in the post. Any notice or other document not sent by post but left by the Company at a registered address shall be deemed to have been served or delivered on the day it was so left. Any notice or other document served or delivered by the Company by any other means authorised in writing by the Member concerned shall be deemed to have been served when the Company has carried out the action it has been authorised to take for that purpose.

76 **Electronic communication**

Any Member may notify the Company of an address for the purpose of his receiving electronic communications from the Company, and having done so shall be deemed (unless and until he subsequently revokes that notification) to have agreed to receive by electronic communication notices and other documents from the Company of the kind to which the address relates. In addition, if a Member notifies the Company of his e-mail address, the Company may (unless and until he subsequently revokes that notification) satisfy its obligation to send him any notice or other document by:

- (a) publishing such notice or other document on a web site; and
- (b) notifying him by e-mail to that e-mail address that such notice or document has been so published, specifying the address of the web site on which it has been published, the place on the web site where the notice may be accessed, how it may be accessed and (if the notice relates to a Member's meeting) stating (i) that the notice concerns a notice of a Company meeting served in accordance with the Companies Orders, (ii) the place, date and time of the meeting and (iii) whether the meeting is to be an annual or extraordinary general meeting.

Any amendment or revocation of a notification given to the Company under this Article shall only take effect if in writing signed, by the Member and on actual receipt by the Company thereof.

An electronic communication shall not be treated as received by the Company if it is rejected by computer virus protection arrangements.

77 **Winding Up**

The provisions of clause 8 of the Company's Memorandum of Association relating to the winding up and dissolution of the Company shall apply and have effect as if that clause were repeated in these Articles.

78 **Indemnity of Officers**

- 78.1 Subject to the provisions of and so far as may be consistent with the Companies Orders and any other applicable law, every Director, Secretary or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified by the Company out its own funds and/or exempted by

the Company from all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him in the actual or purported execution and/or discharge of his duties and/or the exercise or purported exercise of his powers and/or discharge of his duties and/or the exercise or purported exercise of his power and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or office including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) any liability incurred by him in defending any proceedings, civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted or alleged to have been done or omitted by him as an officer or employee of the Company and in which judgement is given in his favour (or the proceedings are otherwise disposed of without any finding or admission of any material breach of duty on his part) or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any application under any statute for relief from liability in respect of any such act or omission in which relief is granted to him by the Court.

- 78.2 With prejudice to Article 78.1 above the Directors shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance for or for the benefit of any person who is or was at any time a Director or officer of any Relevant Company (as defined in Article 78.3 below) or who is or was at any time a trustee of any pension fund or employees' incentive scheme in which employees of any Relevant Company are interested, including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) insurance against any liability incurred by him in respect of any act or omission in the actual or purported execution and/or discharge of his duties and/or in the exercise or purported exercise of his powers and/or otherwise in relation to this duties, powers or offices in relation to any Relevant Company, or any such pension fund or employees' incentive scheme.
- 78.3 For the purpose of Article 78.2 above, "**Relevant Company**" shall mean the Company, or any other body, whether or not incorporated, in which the Company has or had any interest whether direct or indirect or which is in any way allied to or associated with the Company, or any subsidiary undertaking of the Company or of such other body.

NAME AND ADDRESS OF SUBSCRIBER

Dated 2007

Witness to the above signature:-

..... Witness
..... Full Name
..... Address
.....

NAME AND ADDRESS OF SUBSCRIBER

Dated 2007

Witness to the above signature:-

..... Witness
..... Full Name
..... Address
.....

